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JUDGE SWAI

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

TATIANA BONCOMPAGNI HOOVER,

Plaintiff,
V.
NATASHA BONCOMPAGNI, Judge:
Defendant. . JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

DECLARATORY JUDGMENT COMPLAINT WITH JURY DEMAND AND
INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

Plaintiff Tatiana Boncompagni Hoover hereby files this Complaint against Defendant
Natasha Boncompagni, as set forth below:

PARTIES

o =
1. Plaintiff is a professional author who resides in New York, New York. :

-
2. Defendant, the older sister of Plaintiff, is presently unemployed and reside‘:‘s;with

her parents and grandmother at 5253 North Lovers Lane Road, Milwaukee, Wisconsin. w

o
JURISDICTION AND VENUE

3. This action arises under the Copyright Act of 1976, 17 U.S.C. §§ 101, et. seq.,

and the statutory and common laws of the State of New York. This Court has jurisdiction
pursuant to 17 U.S.C. § 501 and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1338, and 1367. This Court has

supplemental jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s claims arising out of the state common law of
conversion.




i

4, This Court may declare the rights and other legal relations of the parties pursuant
to the Federal Declaratory Judgments Act, 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 and 2202, because there is a case
of actual controversy within the Court’s jurisdiction.

5. Defendant is subject to personal jurisdiction by virtue of her contacts with the
State of New York, and within the Southern District of New York. Specifically, a substantial
part of the events giving rise to the copyright infringement and conversion claims referenced
herein occurred within the State of New York, and within the Southern District of New York.

6. Venue is proper in this district under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b) and 1400(b).
FACTS

L MS. HOOVER IS A PROFESSIONAL WRITER WHO IS THE
SOLE AND EXCLUSIVE AUTHOR OF “HEDGE FUND WIVES”

7. Ms. Hoover, a professional writer, is the sole author of “Hedge Fund Wives,” a
novel to be published by HarperCollins Publishers (“HarperCollins™) on or about May 5, 2009.

8. “Hedge Fund Wives” will be published under Ms. Hoover’s maiden name Tatiana
Boncompagni, as was her first novel “Gilding Lily” (published by HarperCollins on September
9, 2008).

9. Prior to becoming a published novelist, Ms. Hoover was a freelance and staff
Jjournalist for publications including: The American Lawyer, Financial Times, The Legal Times,
The New York Times, The Wall Street Journal, and The Wall Street Journal Europe.

10.  On October 2, 2008, Ms. Hoover filed for registration of her copyright as the sole
and exclusive author of “Hedge Fund Wives.” (See Exhibit 1.) The Copyright Office issued the
registration for Ms. Hoover’s copyright on October 23, 2008.

11.  Inall dealings relating to “Hedge Fund Wives,” Ms. Hoover has continuously
acted in a manner consistent with being the sole and exclusive author of the manuscript. This
includes retaining exclusive decision-making authority over the manuscript from conception

until providing a final copy of the manuscript to HarperCollins on September 19, 2008.
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1L THE AUTHORSHIP AND PUBLICATION PROCESSES FOR
“HEDGE FUND WIVES”

12. Without the Defendant’s involvement, Ms. Hoover began writing “Hedge Fund
Wives” as early as August 11, 2007, and continued doing so until its delivery to the publisher on
September 19, 2008.

13. Approximately one month after Ms. Hoover began writing the manuscript in
2007, her editor at HarperCollins selected the book’s title.

14, On March 14, 2008, Ms. Hoover sent an electronic copy of the first three chapters
and a synopsis of “Hedge Fund Wives” to her literary agent. Between March 14, 2008 and June
2008, Ms. Hoover continued to refine the novel, without the Defendant’s involvement.

15. On June 4, 2008, Ms. Hoover’s literary agent sent a portion of “Hedge Fund
Wives” to Ms. Hoover’s editor at HarperCollins.

16. In June 2008, while visiting her parents and the Defendant in Milwaukee,
Wisconsin, and in the Defendant’s presence, Ms. Hoover telephonically negotiated and entered
into a verbal agreement with HarperCollins to publish “Hedge Fund Wives.” Despite the
Defendant’s presence during and awareness of these negotiations, the Defendant never raised
any claim of co-authorship or contribution to Ms. Hoover.

17. Between June and September 19, 2008, Ms. Hoover continued to draft and edit
the novel, without the Defendant’s involvement. On September 19, 2008, Ms. Hoover
transmitted the final copy of “Hedge Fund Wives” to HarperCollins, which HarperCollins
accepted for publication on September 22, 2008.

18.  Ms. Hoover signed the publishing contract with HarperCollins for “Hedge Fund
Wives” on October 21, 2008.

III. UNBEKNOWNST TO MS. HOOVER, THE DEFENDANT
DOWNLOADED UNAUTHORIZED ELECTRONIC COPIES OF
MS. HOOVER’S WORKING MANUSCRIPT

19. During an October 1, 2008 conversation between the sisters, the Defendant

admitted to Ms. Hoover that the Defendant had been gaining access to Ms. Hoover’s computers



to make unauthorized electronic copies of Ms. Hoover’s manuscript. On information and belief,
this surreptitious copying occurred on at least nine separate occasions.

20.  Two surreptitious copying episodes, on information and belief, occurred on or
about September 10, 2008 and October 1, 2008, when the Defendant visited Ms. Hoover’s home
during two separate trips to New York. During these visits, Ms. Hoover treated her sister, the
Defendant, as a trusted guest, which included unsupervised time alone in the Hoover apartment
and unrestricted access to the desktop and notebook computers on which Ms. Hoover wrote and
stored all versions of “Hedge Fund Wives.”

21.  The additional episodes of surreptitious copying, on information and belief,
occurred between August 12 and August 19, 2008 during a visit by Ms. Hoover to her parents
and the Defendant in Milwaukee, Wisconsin. During this period, Ms. Hoover continued to write
and edit “Hedge Fund Wives” in her parents’ home on her notebook computer, which Ms.
Hoover regularly left unattended and without password or other protection. During the October
1, 2008 conversation with her sister, the Defendant admitted that she downloaded drafts of Ms.

Hoover’s manuscript every night during Ms. Hoover’s August visit.

1v. MS. HOOVER’S PROFESSIONAL EFFORTS AND ACTIVITIES
WERE WELL KNOWN TO HER FAMILY, INCLUDING TO HER
SISTER, THE DEFENDANT

22. Ms. Hoover, her sister the Defendant, and their parents routinely discussed
activities and events in one another’s lives. For Ms. Hoover, this intra-family sharing at times
included discussions about her “Hedge Fund Wives” book project.

23.  One such time occurred in the autumn of 2007, during the course of a telephone
call between Ms. Hoover and the Defendant. During this call, Ms. Hoover shared certain
concepts of “Hedge Fund Wives” with the Defendant. In turn, the Defendant offered research
assistance and to share her own past experiences in the financial industry for a $500 fee. Ms.

Hoover declined.



24.  Despite Ms. Hoover’s rejection of the Defendant’s $500 offer, the Defendant
nevertheless occasionally provided ideas relating to “Hedge Fund Wives” to Ms. Hoover. At no

point did the Defendant request a fee or co-authorship credit.

V. THE DEFENDANT NOW MAKES THE UNSUBSTANTIATED
CLAIM THAT SHE IS A CO-AUTHOR OF MS. HOOVER’S
MANUSCRIPT

25, On the afternoon of October 1, 2008, during a conversation with Ms. Hoover, the
Defendant referred to “Hedge Fund Wives” for the first time as “our book” and claimed to be a
co-author. Ms. Hoover expressed her immediate shock to the Defendant and explained that she
was the sole and exclusive author of “Hedge Fund Wives.”

26.  The Defendant’s October 1, 2008 co-authorship assertion not only lacks support,
it also conflicts with the Defendant’s own September 14, 2008 e-mail message to Ms. Hoover.

In this e-mail message, the Defendant wrote:

“If you’d like, [send] me the HF Wives manuscript and I’d be happy to offer
feedback... but if you’d prefer that I see it only after the first rounds of
professional edits, that’s totally fine too... I know my ‘place’: I totally defer to
your ability to craft the story, my expertise is the ideas and the technical finance
knowledge.” (See Exhibit 2.)

27. At no point, from the conception of “Hedge Fund Wives” to the present, did Ms.
Hoover intend for or believe the Defendant to be a co-author of “Hedge Fund Wives.”

28. At no point, from the conception of “Hedge Fund Wives” to the present, did Ms.
Hoover and the Defendant enter into an agreement for the compensation or recognition of any
research or informational efforts by the Defendant, whether solicited or unsolicited.

29. On information and belief, on or about September 18, 2008, the Defendant
independently filed for a joint copyright as co-authors of “Hedge Fund Wives” on behalf of
herself and Ms. Hoover with the United States Copyright Office. On information and belief, the
Defendant provided the United States Copyright Office with a version of “Hedge Fund Wives”

that she downloaded from Ms. Hoover’s computer without acknowledgement or approval.



30. During the October 1, 2008, conversation with Ms. Hoover, the Defendant shared
news of her filing at the United States Copyright Office as co-authors of “Hedge Fund Wives.”
Ms. Hoover immediately informed the Defendant that such a filing constituted error and fraud.

31. On information and belief, the United States Copyright Office issued the
registration for the Defendant’s claimed copyright on October 23, 2008.

32. On repeated occasions, starting on October 3, 2008, and continuing on October 4,
5,6,8, 11, 14, 22, and 23, 2008, the Defendant barraged various individuals at HarperCollins,
including the company’s President, its in-house legal department, and other editorial personnel,
with unsupported allegations that the Defendant co-authored “Hedge Fund Wives.”

33.  Incontinuing the onslaught of correspondence with HarperCollins, the Defendant
ignored an October S, 2008 cease and desist letter sent by Ms. Hoover’s then-counsel — a letter
including demands that the Defendant refrain from asserting co-authorship of “Hedge Fund
Wives,” return all copies of the manuscript, and cease any distribution or exploitation of the

work.

VI DEFENDANT CONTINUES TO POST ON THE INTERNET
UNPUBLISHED PORTIONS OF “HEDGE FUND WIVES”

34.  On or about October 14, 2008, the Defendant posted part of the heretofore
unpublished “Hedge Fund Wives” manuscript on the Internet website
www.hedgefundwives.com,” listing the authors as “Natasha Boncompagni [Defendant] and
Tatiana Boncompagni [Ms. Hoover].” Portions of the posted manuscript were altered from their

original state.

* On September 18, 2008, without Ms. Hoover’s knowledge or consent, the Defendant
registered multiple Internet domain names for “Hedge Fund Wives,” including but not limited to
hedgefundwives.com and hedgefundwives.net. (See Exhibit 3.) On September 20, 2008,
without Ms. Hoover’s knowledge or consent, on information and belief, the Defendant registered
in the name of the Defendant or her mother at least 12 Internet domain names for Ms. Hoover’s
“Gilding Lily” novel, a literary work for which the Defendant (and her mother) raises no claims
as to contribution, authorship, or title. (See Exhibit 4.) These acts of trademark infringement
will be addressed in a separate proceeding.



3s. On October 22, 2008, the Defendant sent a letter to an Assistant General Counsel
at HarperCollins demanding a response to her letter of October 14, 2008, in which she presented
the veiled threat to gut the manuscript’s value via additional pre-publication Internet release.

Specifically, the Defendant warned:

[P]lease be advised that in the event that HarperCollins chooses not to respond to
this letter, I [the Defendant] will begin to consider my online publishing options.
(See Exhibit 5.)

36.  On October 23, 2008, the Defendant removed the portion of the previously
unpublished manuscript from www.hedgefundwives.com and www.hedgefundwives.net.

37.  On or about October 25, 2008, the Defendant again posted part of the “Hedge
Fund Wives” manuscript on the Internet websites www.hedgefundwives.com and
www.hedgefundwives.net, listing the authors as “Natasha Boncompagni [Defendant] and Tatiana
Boncompagni [Ms. Hoover].” Portions of the posted manuscript were altered from their original
state.

38.  The Defendant remains in custody and control of the purloined versions of Ms.
Hoover’s working manuscripts of “Hedge Fund Wives,” as well as the “Hedge Fund Wives”-
related Internet domain names, on which the Defendant continues to publish part of the

manuscript.

COUNT I: DECLARATORY JUDGMENT OF EXCLUSIVE OWNERSHIP BY SOLE
AUTHORSHIP

39.  The allegations of paragraphs 1 to 38 are incorporated by reference as if fully set
forth herein.

40.  Ms. Hoover is the sole author and originator of “Hedge Fund Wives.”

41.  Ms. Hoover has created an original work of authorship fixed in a tangible medium
of expression.
42.  “Hedge Fund Wives” contains a substantial amount of material created by Ms.

Hoover’s own skill, labor, and judgment.



43. The subject matter of “Hedge Fund Wives” is copyrightable under the laws of the
United States.

44.  Ms. Hoover controlled the creation of “Hedge Fund Wives.”

45.  Ms. Hoover owns a valid copyright in “Hedge Fund Wives.”

46.  Ms. Hoover has exclusive rights in “Hedge Fund Wives” under 17 U.S.C. § 106.

47.  “Hedge Fund Wives” is not a “joint work” as defined by 17 U.S.C. § 101.

48.  Any documentation as to joint authorship issued by the United States Copyright
Office, including but not limited to copyright registration, was filed for and obtained fraudulently
and is invalid.

49. An actual controversy exists between the parties as to the authorship of “Hedge
Fund Wives,” with respect to which Ms. Hoover seeks a declaration of sole authorship under
applicable federal and state laws.

50.  Ms. Hoover seeks an order from this Court directing the United States Copyright
Office to cancel any copyright registration issued to Defendant Natasha Boncompagni relating to

“Hedge Fund Wives.”

COUNT II: COPYRIGHT INFRINGEMENT BY UNLAWFUL PUBLISHING OF THE
MANUSCRIPT

51.  The allegations of paragraphs 1 to 50 are incorporated by reference as if fully set
forth herein.

52.  Without Ms. Hoover’s knowledge or consent, the Defendant had access to and
copied versions of Ms. Hoover’s “Hedge Fund Wives” manuscript.

53.  Without Ms. Hoover’s knowledge or consent, the Defendant has published an
otherwise unpublished portion of Ms. Hoover’s “Hedge Fund Wives” manuscript on multiple

internet website.

54.  Ms. Hoover’s “Hedge Fund Wives” manuscript is substantial protected matter

under federal copyright laws.



55.  Defendant’s actions are willful and intentional acts of copyright infringement in
violation of the Copyright Act of 1976, 17 U.S.C. §§ 101, er. seq.

56.  Asaresult of the Defendant’s infringing activities, Ms. Hoover has suffered
actual damages under 17 U.S.C. § 504 in an amount to be determined at trial.

57.  Further, the Defendant’s acts of infringement have caused irreparable harm to Ms.
Hoover for which there is no adequate remedy at law, and will continue to cause irreparable

harm to Ms. Hoover unless the Defendant is permanently enjoined by this Court.

COUNT III: CONVERSION

58.  The allegations of paragraphs 1 to 57 are incorporated by reference as if fully set
forth herein.

59.  Defendant unlawfully and intentionally assumed and exercised Ms. Hoover’s
right of ownership over “Hedge Fund Wives.”

60.  Defendant’s unlawful and intentionally assumption and exercise of Ms. Hoover’s
right of ownership over “Hedge Fund Wives” was to the exclusion of Ms. Hoover.

61.  Defendant knowingly denied and violated Ms. Hoover’s rightful dominion, rights,
or possession over Ms. Hoover’s property.

62. As a result of the Defendant’s acts of conversion, Ms. Hoover has suffered actual
damages in an amount to be determined at trial.

63.  Further, the Defendant’s acts of conversion have caused irreparable harm to Ms.
Hoover for which there is no adequate remedy at law, and will continue to cause irreparable

harm to Ms. Hoover unless the Defendant is permanently enjoined by this Court.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE, Ms. Hoover respectfully requests that this Court find in her favor and
enter an order and judgment against Defendant Natasha Boncompagni, granting Ms. Hoover the

following relief:
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A. a declaration that Ms. Hoover is the sole and exclusive author of “Hedge Fund
Wives” under applicable federal and state laws; that “Hedge Fund Wives” is not a joint work as
defined by 17 U.S.C. § 101; and that any documentation as to joint authorship issued by the
United States Copyright Office, including but not limited to copyright registration, is invalid and
should be canceled;

B. a preliminary and permanent injunction enjoining the Defendant, and all persons
in active concert or participation with her, from contributing to infringe Ms. Hoover’s sole
authorship interest in “Hedge Fund Wives,” including but not limited to ceasing to publish,
market, promote, distribute, and/or sell materials relating to “Hedge Fund Wives,” including but
not limited to the manuscript;

C. the immediate impoundment of all of the Defendant’s copies or records of the
“Hedge Fund Wives” manuscript and/or any portions thereof under 17 U.S.C. § 503(a).

D. the destruction of all of the Defendant’s copies or records of the “Hedge Fund
Wives” manuscript and/or any portions thereof under 17 U.S.C. § 503(b);

E. an award of damages adequate to compensate Ms. Hoover for the Defendant’s

actions as outlined herein;

F. an award of punitive damages;
G. a determination that the Defendant’s copyright infringement has been willful and
deliberate;

H. a determination under 17 U.S.C. § 505 that Ms. Hoover is entitled to an award of
reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs incurred in prosecuting this action;

L an award of pre-judgment and post-judgment interest on all damages computed;
and

J. such other relief as this Court deems fair and appropriate.
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JURY DEMAND
In accordance with Rule 38(b) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Ms. Hoover

hereby demands a trial by jury for all issues so triable in this matter.

Respectfully Submitted,

)t Qp—

. Fisth )/'
. Katz
AYE SCHOLER LLP

901 Fifteenth Street, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20005-2327

(202) 682-3500

Joseph M. Drayton

JD 8670

KAYE SCHOLER LLP
425 Park Avenue

New York, NY 10022
(212) 836-8000

Attorneys for Plaintiff
Dated: October 27, 2008 Tatiana Boncompagni Hoover



